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General information  
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(Company registration number: 01-10-045553) has merged into Appeninn Nyrt. 
 
Registered office: H-1022. Budapest, Bég st. 3-5. 

Webpage: http://www.appeninn.hu 

 
   
Core activity:    TEÁOR ’08 6810 Sale of own property 
Form of operation:   Public Limited Company 
Tax number:    11683991-2-41 
Company Registration Number: 01-10-046538 
 
The Company's subscribed capital:  On 31.12.2017 the subscribed capital is 4,089,255 thousand HUF, which consists of 

40,892,545 ordinary shares of HUF 100 face value each, with the identifier HU0000102132.  In 
2017 the number of traded share grew by 109,255 on the basis of the General Meeting Resolution 
of 01.12.2017. 

 
Marketing of the Company shares:   
   Shares kept in trade by the Budapest Stock Exchange Co. Ltd.  
   Company management: Board (12.03.2010)  
 
Board members - right of representation (start-end: 
    
   ifj. Ádámosi György – joint (21.12.2017 – )  
   Juhász Sándor - joint (21.12.2017 – )  
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   ifj. Ádámosi György – individual (05.08.2014 – 21.12.2017.) 
 
  
Name and address of the person entitled to sign the report: 

Székely Gábor – joint (2750 Nagykőrös, Filő L. u. 20.), 
   as Chairman of the Audit Committee 
Prutkay Zoltán - joint (1101 Budapest, Albertirsai út 6.),  
  as Board members 

 
The Company’s accountant: KAT Zrt. H-1022. Budapest, Bég st. 3-5. 
The Company’s auditor:  MOBILCONSULT Könyvvizsgáló és Gazdasági Tanácsadó Korlátolt Felelősségű Társaság (regis-

tered seat: H-1106 Budapest, Fehér út 10., II/206., Company registry number: 01-09-079760, 
chamber of auditors’ license number: 001168) person bearing responsibility for the audit: Judit 
Nagy (address: H-1165 Budapest, Vak Bottyán u. 25., chamber of auditors’ membership number: 
007070)  

 
Cut-off date for events included in this report: 26/03/2018   
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1 Income statements  
 
for the period between 1 and 31 December 2017 and for its reference period  
 

 
 
Annexes on pages 1 to 44 are integral part of this financial statement. 
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2 Statement of financial position (Balance Sheet) 
 
for the year ending on 31 December 2017 and for its reference period 
 

 
 
Annexes on pages 1 to 44 are integral part of this financial statement. 
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3 Cash-Flow statement 
 
for the year ending on 31 December 2017 and for its reference period 
 

 
 
 
 
Annexes on pages 1 to 44 are integral part of this financial statement. 
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4 Changes in Equity 
for the year ending on 31 December 2017 and for its reference period 
 

 
 
We present the effects of the Company’s migration to IFRS on capital in Section 5.  
 
Annexes on pages 1 to 44 are integral part of this financial statement.  
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5 FIRST APPLICATION OF IFRS 
 
Under the Hungarian Accounting Act the economic entity whose securities are traded on a regulated market in any state in the 
European Economic Area has to migrate from the Hungarian Accounting Act (hereinafter the “HAA” or “accounting act”) to the IFRS 
for its individual financial statements as of the financial year starting on 1 January 2017. For Appeninn Nyrt the 31 December 2017 
financial statement is the first individual financial statement prepared in accordance with the IFRS adopted by the EU. 
 
Selected exemptions 
 
Assets and liabilities in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates Under IFRS 1 D17 in the 1 January 2017 opening 
individual financial position statement Appeninn Nyrt. applies the same carrying amounts for assets and liabilities (except consolida-
tion adjustments) as in consolidated financial statements. 
 
Participations in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates  
In the opening IFRS statement of financial position Appeninn Nyrt. opted for applying the carrying amount under the previous ac-
counting rules (Hungarian accounting act) as deemed cost for investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates, 
apart from the largest strategic participation, for which valuation took place at IAS 27 cost.  
 
 
Conciliations 
 

5.1.1 Conciliation of equity to the capital value pursuant to the reporting principles for the fi-
nancial year ended on 31.12.2016 

 
The Company has migrated to IFRS reporting as of 01.01.2017. The start of reference data for the migration is 31.12.2015. We 
present the capital transition in the 2016.12. 31 report under the Hungarian Accounting Act as published by the Company.  
 

5.1.2 Equivalence of the equity table pursuant to the 31.12.2016 Hungarian Accounting Act 
 to IFRS 

 
Explanations to the conciliations of equity and comprehensive income 
 
 
(1) Under the earlier accounting rules the recovered amount of treasury shares was not included in equity, under the Hungarian 
Accounting Act the value of recovered treasury shares is to be treated as asset. Under the Hungarian accounting rules the valuation 
loss generated upon the valuation of treasury shares was recognised against P/L on the treasury share asset item, under the IFRS 
no gain or loss is generated against P/L for treasury share either for revaluation or sale events. The loss recognised under the 
Hungarian accounting rule has been derecognised from P/L to the value of treasury shares.  
  
(2) On the one hand the Hungarian accounting rules do not separate interest on receivables from shareholders from the receiva-
bles, and recognise the interest earned from the shareholder for the receivable in the P/L on the other. Under the IFRS the P/L 
effect of transactions with shareholders is recognised directly in capital.  
 
(3) Under the Hungarian accounting rules the dividend distribution decision made by the Company has been recognised in the 
financial year to the expense of which P/L the dividend paid has been recognised (in year 2015). Under the IFRS rules dividend 
must be recognised the earliest in the period when the decision was made (identical with the current Hungarian rules). This decision 
on dividend distribution was made in 2016, therefore the Company moved the dividend earned to the 2016 IFRS P/L items (this 
dividend was earned from a Company that used the cost model accounting policy).  
 
(4) The Company carries its investment properties at fair value pursuant to the IAS 40 principles. Under the Hungarian accounting 
rules the Company used value adjustment to present fair value differences. A committed reserve equivalent to the value adjustment 
has been returned to profit reserve. The actual revaluation difference on property is presented against investment property and in 
the profit reserve. A  
 
(5) Deferred taxes Deferred tax asset or liability was not recognised in the financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
earlier accounting rules, because under the Hungarian Accounting Act these cannot be recognised in the balance sheet. 
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5.1.3 31.12.2015 Equivalence of the capital table under the Hungarian Accounting Act to IFRS:  
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6.1 Company information 
 
Appeninn Asset Management Public Limited Company by Shares (“the Company” or “Appeninn Plc.”) is incorporated under the laws 
of the Republic of Hungary. Registered office: H-1022 Budapest, Bég st. 3-5.  
Main activities of the Company is letting out its real estates, as well as letting out, operating, and managing out office buildings, 
commercial properties, warehouses and other properties owned by the subsidiaries of the Company, as well as management of 
investments in subsidiaries.  
 

6.2 End year shareholder structure of the Company is as follows: 

 
In its announcements published before the publication of this report the Company has made announcements on shareholder struc-
ture. The Company discloses changes in shareholder structure at the disclosure locations on the basis of the notifications received 
from shareholders. The Company has disclosed for the last day of every month an announcement for the entire share stock and 
repurchased share stock (end-month capital and voting rights).  
 

7 Explanations to the Financial Statements, accounting policy, sig-
nificant accounting estimates, accounting information 

 
This Section describes the bases for the preparation of individual report and the accounting policies applied. The accounting poli-
cies, significant estimates and considerations aligned to the Company characteristics will be detailed in the relevant explanations. 
This Section summarizes furthermore the accounting standards, amendments and interpretations applied from this year and to be 
entered into force. 
 

7.1 General accounting information 
 

7.1.1 Basis for preparing a report, business continuity principle 
 
The annual report covers a 12 month period, from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017. The report for the previous business year 
covered a 12 month period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016. The balance sheet date is 31.12.2017.  Cut off date for 
taking into account events affecting the report was 26 March 2018.  
 
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of the business continuity principle since the Company’s management consid-
ers that it will be able to continue its activity in the foreseeable future. Figures in the Company’s report are in Hungarian Forint (also 
used as HUF). All amounts in the s rounded to the nearest forint. 
 

7.1.2 Accounting policy 
 
Changes in accounting policies, the foreseeable effects of IFRSs and IFRICs not yet effective on the date of the financial state-
ments, past applications. The Company has not opted for the earlier application for any standard.  
As of 01.01.2017and in line with the requirement set in the accounting act the Company has migrated to the IFRS accounting sys-
tem. For the description of this migration see Section 5  .  
 

7.1.3 Statement on compliance with IFRSs 
 
Financial statements on the economic activity of Appeninn Vagyonkezelő Holding Nyrt. have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter the IFRS), during which we used the text adopted by the European Union. 
Explanations to the financial report contain any disclosure required by the Hungarian Accounting Act. 
Financial statements of Appeninn Nyrt. have been prepared in line with the local generally accepted accounting principles at the end 
of the year 2016 and in all previous periods (Act C of 2000 on Accounting, hereinafter the Hungarian Accounting Act). The year-end 
of 31 December 2017 is the first period when Appeninn Vagyonkezelő Holding Nyrt prepares its financial statement in accordance 
with the IFRS.. The explanation titled “First time application of the IFRS” contains any information related to the introduction of 
Appeninn Nyrt’s migration to the IFRS.  
 
Financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the principles of business continuity and cost valuation. With the view 
to apply the cost valuation principle the individual annual report considers Appeninn Nyrt. as if it had been established on 1 January 
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2009 with asset and liability values for that day, taking into account any amendments required due to the IFRS, and the rules for 
selecting the cost value provided for by the IFRS.  
 
IFRS are standards adopted by the International Accounting Standard Committee (IASC), and the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)(IFRSs and IASs) and interpretations (IFRICs and SICs). 
The management has made the above statement being aware of its liability for the compilation of the financial statements. 
 
Published but not yet effective International Financial Reporting Standards are presented in Section 14.1.  
 

7.2 Summary of the accounting policies 
 

7.2.1 Translation of foreign currency 
The FX assets and liabilities of the Company are revaluated on the exchange rate published by the National Bank of Hungary on the 
balance sheet date. It recognises the revaluation gains and losses netted, in the other revenues from/expenditure on financial trans-
actions line of the current year profit and loss account. 
 
The currency used by Appeninn Vagyonkezelő Holding Nyrt. for accounting and reporting purposes is Forint (HUF).  

- Non-monetary assets and liabilities existing on the balance sheet date and incurred in foreign currencies are converted in-
to Forint at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction (historical exchange rate). 

- Monetary assets and liabilities incurred in foreign currencies are converted into Forint at the exchange rate on the balance 
sheet date.  

- The resulting exchange rate difference is recognized against the profit.  
- Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, valued at fair value are converted at the exchange 

rates prevailing at the time when the fair value is determined: any difference should be recognized against the item 
against which the difference due to the change of fair value is to be settled. 

- Operating currencies (functional): Hungary - Hungarian Forint 
- If the transaction is to be settled in any foreign currency, the transaction will be presented on the transaction date at the 

exchange rate prevailing at the time of settlement. By the end of the reporting period, all monetary items are revaluated to 
the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the period. Non-monetary items are not revaluated. 

 
 

7.2.2 Investments in capital, associates and joint ventures 
 
Economic entities can choose from three options to valuate and present investments in individual financial statements. Individual 
financial statements are statements presented by the economic entity where, depending on the standard’s requirements, the eco-
nomic entity can choose from the recognition of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates at  

- cost,  
- at cost pursuant to IFRS 9 Financial instruments standard, 
- or their recognition with the equity method described in IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. 

The Company shall apply the same accounting for individual categories of investments.  
 
The Company opted for:  
 
The Company uses the cost model according to IAS 27.  
Upon the first time application the economic entity uses the carrying value presented in accordance with the earlier accounting rules 
as deemed cost. 
 
The economic entity’s investments are long-term and exercises control over its investments. Any profit from the investments ap-
pears in the Economic Entity’s as dividend received.  
 
In the calculation of impairment the cash-generating units’ recoverable amount must be estimated. Usually value in use is deter-
mined on the basis of expected discounted future cash-flows. In the course of setting cash-flows the most significant variables are 
the discount rates, the residual value, the length of the period under review and the assumptions used, on the basis of which cash 
inflows and outflows are estimated (commodity prices, operational costs, future production data, global and regional demand-supply 
for crude oil, natural gas and refined products). 
 
 
In the individual financial statements participations in subsidiaries, joint ventures, and/or associates are presented at cost under IAS 
27. Cost of long-term participations is the amount paid for its acquisition in cash or cash equivalent or the fair value of other consid-
eration given. Items directly associated with the acquisition of the participation are included in the cost of that participation. For 
participations acquired in foreign currency:  

- where the consideration for the purchase is paid before the acquisition of title, the cost is the value calculated at the offi-
cial exchange rate published by the National Bank of Hungary for the day when the transaction was implemented,  

- where the acquisition of title precedes the payment of the consideration, the cost is the value calculated at the official ex-
change rate published by the National Bank of Hungary for the day when the title was acquired.  

 
Later on participations acquired for foreign currency will not be revaluated on the ground of exchange rate fluctuations. 
 
An impairment test must be conducted for participations in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, if signs suggesting potential 
impairment occur. Where signs of impairment occur, the recoverable amount of that participation must be established and com-
pared to the net value of that participation. Where the participation’s recoverable amount is significantly or durably lower than the 
net value, impairment must be recognised. 
 
Where the participation’s recoverable amount is significantly or durably higher than the net value, an impairment reversal must be 
recognised.  
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Economic entities that compile their individual financial statements in accordance with the IFRSs test the value of their subsidiaries 
(investments) by measuring it to the capital value of investments. The net capital value of subsidiaries is considered to be market 
value. A dominant, and in many cases only key asset of subsidiaries is the investment asset pursuant to IAS40, the value of which 
is recognised at a price adjusted to changes in market prices and yields. Other further investments of subsidiaries (fixed assets), are 
insignificant, receivables and liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, and items in foreign currency are revaluated to the balance 
sheet date. Where the capital value of investments is below the carrying value at the economic entity, then the Company recognises 
impairment to the investment concerned. Where the difference between the future expectations and past capital values can be 
estimated soundly due to the management’s future and planned contracts, then an appraisal is made for the investments in line with 
the relevant appraisal model, which serves as a basis for the valuation of that investment.  
(Investments recognised at cost or by using the capital method must be recognised in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations when they are classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal Company that is 
classified as held for sale or division). The measurement of investments accounted for in accordance with IFRS 9 is not changed in 
such circumstances. 
 

7.2.3 Recognition of dividends received in individual financial statements 
The economic entity recognises in its individual financial statement dividends received from subsidiaries, joint ventures or associ-
ates if the entitlement of that economic entity for the dividend is established. Dividends are recognised in P/L unless the economic 
entity opts for the use of the capital method, in which case dividends are recognised as deduction from the investment’s carrying 
amount. The economic entity opted for the cost model.  
An associate is an entity over which the Economic Entity has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint ven-
ture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control 
or joint control over those policies.  
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the cost method of account-
ing, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 
 

7.2.4 Acquisition of properties and participations 
 
The Company acquires participations in those subsidiaries, which own the properties. At the time of the acquisition the Company 
decides whether shares in the acquired subsidiary are part of the company’s operational activity.  If the Company acquired shares 
related to the property management segment than the acquisition classifies as business combination. To make sure that the Com-
pany acquired shares in the property management segment of a subsidiary it should review, which are those significant property 
management activities over which a control was obtained (i.e. property repair and maintenance, property management, leasing 
activity, cleaning, security guarding). The significance of any acquired business activity of the Company shall be considered in line 
with the guidance given in IAS 40.  
 

7.2.5 Non-current assets classified as held for sale  
 
Non-current assets and disposal companies are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly proba-
ble and the asset (or disposal company) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to 
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.  
When the Company expresses its commitment to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities 
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether the Company will 
retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.  
Non-current assets (and disposal companies) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount 
and fair value less costs to sell.  
 

7.2.6 Revenue recognition  
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer 
returns, rebates and other similar allowances. Criteria for the recognition of revenues are as follows:  
Rental income 

 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. All discounts provided to the tenants accrued and recognised dur-
ing the lease term, though it is not accordance with the financial schedule. 

Revenues from the early termination of an operating lease are recognised upon their occurrence. 

 Income from recharged operation expenses 
Income from recharged operation expenses in relation to office rental is recognised by the Company in the same period when the 
related operation expenses occurred. The Company bears the risk that the income from recharged operation expenses not covers 
the related operation expenses, so in this transaction the Company is not an agent but a supplier. Via its subsidiaries the Company 
holds all knowledge, assets and governance system required for the performance of the property operation tasks, therefore opera-
tional revenues are considered to be the Company’s own revenue and performance. 
The Company has disposal rights of the assets and equipment integrated in the properties. Equipment such as electricity supply, 
network access locations, distribution locations, water network use locations (kitchens, lavatories), heating network and heater 
networks are the Company’s controlled assets. The Company creates a right of use for the controlled assets for lessees, and the 
lessees reimburse the Company for a contribution to the use of these assets on the basis of their use to the Company. The Compa-
ny considers any purchased energy (gas, water, electricity) used for the equipment as services purchased in connection with the 
equipment rather than material sold independently. The Company sells no energy products to any customer individually, without the 
use of a property.  

 Dividend and interest income   
Dividends from investments are recognised when the owner’s entitlement for the payment opens up (provided it is probable that 
economic benefits will flow in to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured). 

 Revenues from other financial instruments 
Interest income from a financial instrument is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company 
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal out-
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standing and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through 
the expected life of the financial instruments to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition. 
 

7.2.7 Cash flow statement 
The Company prepared its cash-flow statement in accordance with the direct method. 
 

7.2.8 Segments 
We developed the units presented in the segment report in line with the structure of the report to inform the decision-maker, in line 
with IFRS 8 requirements. The units in the segment report are handled separately due to the differences in the service provided by 
the segment. Segments indicate activities providing various services to strategically different markets. 
The Company set two directions in the segment report:  

 office rental services 

 asset management and management 
 
P/L of segments consist of revenues and expenditure that can be directly attributed to them, as well as P/L items from the total 
company P/L that can be attributed to the segment (arising from external transactions or from transactions with other segments of 
Group companies). 
Undistributed items contain overhead costs for the Company as a whole, as well as assets not directly attributable to the segments’ 
operation. The investment costs (Capex) are the total cost paid for the acquisition of segment items taken into permanent use dur-
ing the period. 
 

7.2.9 Leasing  
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership 
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.  
 
The Company as Lessor  
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Company’s net investment in 
the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Com-
pany’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases. The Company was not involved in finance lease transactions as a Les-
sor on 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015. 
 
The Company as Lessee 
The Company reviews its lease contracts based on the principles of IFRIC 4 and classifies its leases as per IAS 17 as operating 
lease or finance lease. 
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Company at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, 
if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated 
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.  
Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are 
directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Company’s general policy on 
borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.  
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another sys-
tematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. Contin-
gent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.  
In the event that lease incentives are received by the Company to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are con-
sumed.  
 

7.2.10 Share-based payment transactions 
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equi-
ty instruments at the grant date.  
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or 
services received, except where the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the 
equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or counterparty renders the service.  
For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is recognised for the goods or services acquired, measured initially at the fair 
value of the liability. At the end of each reporting period until the liability settled, and at the date of settlement, the fair value of the 
liability is revaluated by the Company, with any changes in the fair value recognised in profit or loss for the year.  
 

7.2.11 Taxation 
Current tax: 
Subsidiaries of the Company pay corporate income tax to the Hungarian Tax Authority and local municipality tax to the Local Munic-
ipality. Base of the corporate income tax is the taxable profit modified by tax increasing and tax decreasing items. Base of the local 
municipality tax is the revenue decreased by different types of costs and expenses (gross margin). 
Deferred tax: 
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the annual financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are meas-
ured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
Differed tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit (or reversing deferred tax liabilities) will 
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
In the case of any investment property for which a fair value model according to IAS 40 investment property has been applied, the 
fair value model assumes that they will be recovered over time through selling, and this principle is also applied for deferred tax 
calculation. Deferred tax payables and deferred tax receivables must be determined on the basis that they will be recovered through 
sale. If the investment properties are presented at fair value in accordance with IAS 40, the Company recognizes deferred tax paya-
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bles and deferred tax receivables in jurisdictions where tax is not imposed on the selling of investment properties (currently the 
Hungarian tax system does not act in this way) for gains and losses incurred in connection with fair valuation. 
 

7.2.12 Cash and cash equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in the bank, short-term bank deposits with less than three month to maturity 
and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignifi-
cant risk of changes in value.  
 

7.2.13 Trade and other receivables 
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is established when there is 
objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the underlying arrangement. For any 
accounts receivable older than 365 days, an impairment loss of 100% was raised by the Company. Significant financial difficulties of 
the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments as 
well as historical collections are considered indicators that the trade receivable may have been impaired. Provisions for impairment 
of trade receivables classified in the consolidated financial statements based on the original classification of the related receivable, 
so the provision for impairment can be classified as an expense related to vehicle lease or as operating expense of rentals. 
 

7.2.14 Property, plant and equipment  
Properties are carried at initial cost less accumulated depreciation and recognised impairment loss, if any. An item of property, plant 
and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of 
the assets, any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item is determined as the difference between sales proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised among other income or other expenses.  
The initial cost of assets comprises its purchase price, including duties and non-refundable purchase taxes and any directly attribut-
able costs bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use, such as borrowing costs.  
Replacements and improvements, which prolong the useful life or significantly improve the condition of the asset are capitalised. 
Maintenance and repairs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. General depreciation rules are 
stated as follows: 
Useful life of office and other equipment  3-7 years 
 
The residual value at the Company is nil. The value of fixed assets is minor, the net asset value is less than 2 million HUF, and 
computers, office furniture, office assets, small kitchen appliances and assets, their residual value in the absence of a secondary 
market, and after their amortisation period they will be replaced, thus the nil value is acceptable.  
 
 

7.2.15 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill  
 
At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to 
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest Company of cash-generating units for which a rea-
sonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.  
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annual-
ly, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.  
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value is use. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which estimates of the future cash flows have not been adjusted.  
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. The Company recognises impairment loss immediately 
in profit or loss among other income or other expense.  
When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined if no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss among other income or other expense. 
 

7.2.16 Investment in property plant 
 
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including property under construction for 
such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties 
are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 
In determining the carrying amount of investment property under the fair value model, an entity does not double-count assets or 
liabilities that are recognised as separate assets or liabilities.  
(a) equipment such as lifts or air-conditioning is often an integral part of a building and is generally included in the fair value of the 

investment property, rather than recognised separately as property, plant and equipment. 
(b) if an office is leased on a furnished basis, the fair value of the office generally includes the fair value of the furniture, because the 

rental income relates to the furnished office. When furniture is included in the fair value of investment property, an entity does not 
recognise that furniture as a separate asset. 

(c) the fair value of investment property excludes prepaid or accrued operating lease income, because the entity recognises it as a 
separate liability or asset; 

(d) the fair value of investment property held under a lease reflects expected cash flows (including contingent rent that is expected to 
become payable). Accordingly, if a valuation obtained for a property is net of all payments expected to be made, it will be neces-
sary to add back any recognised lease liability, to arrive at the carrying amount of the investment property using the fair value 
model. 
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An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no 
future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the 
property is derecognised. 
 

7.2.17 Investment property (IAS 40) valuation methodology (IFRS 13) 
 
Every year, the Company determines the fair value of the properties. Besides the value estimate made by the Company, the portfo-
lio value of the properties was reviewed by an independent appraiser appointed by the Company.  
 
Principles of value appraisal: 
In the case of completed investment properties, as well as for investment properties under construction, where the respective fair 
values can be reliably determined, they are established on the basis of the fair market value approach of appraisals. For investment 
properties under construction, where the fair values cannot be reliably determined (due to low completion level, the unique character 
of the property and/or the complete lack of market transactions), the book value corresponds to the historical cost less any impair-
ment loss.  
 
Valuation methodologies: 
The valuations are made using the income approach, the discounted cash flow method. This method is based on the estimation of 
periodic cash flows originating from property. The present value of cash flows from the property is determined with the application of 
the market-based discount rate reflecting investors' yield expectations. The periodic cash flow is estimated as gross income without 
vacancy less costs incurred with the operation and maintenance of the property. A series of periodic net operating incomes, along-
side the estimate of the value anticipated for the end of the projection period, is discounted to present value. 
 

7.2.18 Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is proba-
ble that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of 
the reporting period. 

- The Company raises reserves for fines and penalty interests if they can be claimed in legal terms and if they constitute a 
payment obligations by the Company to the authorities. 

- The Company raises provisions for expected costs in view of exiting employees whenever the related decision is made 
before the balance sheet date. 

- The Company raises provisions for loans granted to key personnel for motivational purposes and in order to promote loy-
alty. 

- The Company raises provisions for litigations, in cases involving claims by third parties in the ongoing legal proceedings 
phase, and when it has sufficient information to carry out reliable estimates, which is supported by the legal counsel that it 
is expected to result in a payment obligation. 

- The Company raises provisions to cover its guarantees to its customers in relation to its activities. The amount of the pro-
vision is determined individually on the basis of the sales revenue and the amount of liabilities previously incurred with the 
guarantees. 

 

7.2.19 Financial liabilities and equity instruments  
 
Classification as debt or equity  
 
Debt and equity instruments issued by a Company entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.  
 
Equity instruments  
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the asset of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net or direct issue costs.  
Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in 
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.  
 
Loans and other borrowings 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortised costs using the 
effective interest rate method. The effective interest is recognised in the income statement (finance expenses) over the period of the 
borrowings. Own issue bonds are in compliance with the category’s classification principles.  
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities  
The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they 
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 

7.2.20 Equity 
 
Subscribed capital is presented at the balance sheet date value of shares issued. Additional yield above the face value from the 
equity issue is recognised as premium. For the presentation of the treasury share portfolio see Section 8.22.1. 
 

7.2.21 Treasury shares 
Treasury shares are recognised at cost, each purchase distinguished individually. Treasury shares are recognised as a reduction of 
shareholder’s equity. Premiums and discounts on disposal are credited and debited respectively directly to retained earnings. For 
the presentation of the treasury share portfolio see Section 8.22.4. 
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7.2.22 Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that neces-
sarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such 
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of 
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All 
other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.  
 

7.2.23 Deposit from tenants 
Deposit from tenants is recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised costs using the effective interest 
rate method. Deposits from tenants related to contracts over one year period are classified as long-term liabilities, while other de-
posits from tenants are classified as short-term liabilities in the financial statements. 
 

7.2.24 Earnings per share 
Earnings per share are derived from the ratio of the weighted average of the distributable profit and loss and the ordinary shares in 
circulation during the year (apart from shares repurchased as treasury shares). The calculation of the diluted earnings per share, 
similarly to the calculation of the earnings per share, is based on the average number of shares in circulation (weighted period 
average), adjusted by the number of all assumed issues or conversion of shares with diluting effect. Diluted earnings per share is 
calculated considering the weighted average number of diluting share options (if any) in addition to the number of common stocks 
outstanding. 
 

7.2.25 Off balance sheet items 
Off-balance-sheet liabilities are such items not stated in the financial statements, and are not presented only when the outflow of 
assets carrying economic benefits is time away. Off-balance-sheet assets are not stated in the financial statements, but if they are 
likely to have an inflow of economic benefits, they will be presented. 
 

7.2.26 Events after the reporting date 
Events after the reporting date (correction events) providing information on the Company’s position are presented in the financial 
statements. Events with non-corrective effect after the reporting date (if significant) are shown in the annexes. 
 

7.2.27 Comparative data 
In order to compare the data of the year under review and the previous year, in some cases reclassification was necessary among 
the comparative balances. 
 

7.3 Accounting estimates and uncertainties 
 
In the course of applying the Company’s IFRS accounting policies the management has to make decisions, estimates and assump-
tions with regard to the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not obvious from other sources. These estimates and the 
related assumptions are based on past experience and other factors that are considered relevant. Actual results may differ from 
those estimates.  
Estimates and the underlying assumptions need to be reviewed on an ongoing basis. Amendments to the accounting estimates 
must be recognised in the period of the relevant amendment where the amendment affects that period exclusively, or in the 
amendment period and in subsequent periods where the amendment affects the present period and also future ones.  
 

7.3.1 Decisions in the accounting 
Details of critical decisions other than those involving estimates (see the note on accounting estimates) that were made by the 
Company during the application of its accounting policies and had the most significant effect on the amounts presented in the finan-
cial statements, are presented below: 
 

7.3.1.1 Functional and reporting currency 
On the basis of the economic events and circumstances that characterize the Company's activities, Forint ("HUF") has been defined 
as the settlement and reporting currency. Consequently, the figures in the consolidated financial statements are in HUF, except 
where other relevant information is provided. For the annual accounts any value of the Company’s economic events not denominat-
ed in HUF have been converted for accounting and reporting purposes. Upon the conversion we applied the following NBH HUF – 
EUR exchange rates with regard to the balance sheet date:  
 

 
 

7.3.1.2 Operating lease contracts - the Company as Lessor 
The Company reviews any lease agreement on an annual basis where the Company is a Lessor party. On this basis the Company’s 
contracts qualify as operating leases under IAS 17 and the accounting policy in line with that standard  
 

7.3.1.3 Classification of properties 
Properties held by the Company are classified at initial recognition as investment properties or development properties, as it follows: 

 Investments properties are properties, which are bought by the Company with the primary intention of consume substan-
tially all of the economic benefits earned through rental or increase in value over time. These properties (offices, ware-
houses and industrial properties) are not in use by the Company in the long run and there is no intention of sales in the 
near future. 

  
 Development properties are properties, which are bought by the Company with the intention of development and future 

sale (mainly building of a residential property).  
On 31 December 2017 and on 31 December 2016 the Company held no development purpose property. In the event of a change in 
the properties’ function or other circumstances this classification is subject to a review. 
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7.3.1.4 Errors from earlier years 
No error was detected in the current year in the context of earlier (closed) years, no corrections for past periods are presented in the 
P/L statement. 
 

7.3.2 Accounting estimates 
The Management of the Company had certain assumptions when applying the accounting policy. Details of those critical accounting 
estimates which, have the most important effect on the amounts in the financial statements, presented below: 
 

7.3.2.1 Impairment of goodwill  
Goodwill arising on the purchase of shares, reviewed once in a year at the time of the preparation of the financial statements. De-
termining whether the goodwill is impaired an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been 
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the management to estimate the future cash-flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. 
 

7.3.2.2 Useful life of property, plant and equipment  
In accordance with IFRS, the Company reviews the estimated useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment at 
the end of each reporting period. The Board of Directors concluded that there is no need to amend the useful life and residual value 
of properties, plants and equipments in the current year. 
 

7.3.2.3 Fair value of investment properties 
Fair value determination of investment properties are mainly based on estimates and assumptions, therefore the actual value can 
be significantly different form the value resulting from the estimate.  
Fair value of investment properties is set by the Company’s in-house evaluations and appraisals made by independent appraisers. 
The Company has made the estimate on the fair value of investment properties. The values determined by the independent ap-
praiser are in line with the values stated in the financial statements. Between 2014 and -2017, the independent appraiser appointed 
for such valuation was Jones Lang LaSalle Ltd (H–1051 Budapest, Széchenyi tér 7–8). 
 
Valuation model used same variables in year 2015 to 2017: average rental fee, market fee, usage of the property (occupancy) and 
exit yield with “discount rate”. These values are based on observations in the property market, which had to be corrected due to the 
local differences of the properties. Since corrections were necessary for the observable variables the model variables be-
come “level 3” type.  
 
 For the Kecskemét property valuation methods remained unchanged from year 2015 to -2017, the Company used the 
values from the discounted cash-flow model (DCF) in every period. 
 Taking into account the long-term letting activity, for the Budapest, Andrássy út 105 property the appraiser company finds 
the average of the matching DCF method and the market value as appropriate presentation of fair value.  
 
The valuation model applied are in line with the valuation modelling processes presented by IFRS 13.  
The valuation expressed on the face of the valuation the marketable comparable prices.  
 
The Company determines the fair value of the properties. for the balance sheet date. Besides the value estimate made by the Com-
pany, the portfolio value of the properties was reviewed by an independent appraiser appointed by the Company. The values de-
termined by the independent appraiser are in line with the values stated in the financial statements. Between 2014 and 2016, the 
independent appraiser appointed for such valuation was Jones Lang LaSalle Ltd (H–1051 Budapest, Széchenyi tér 7–8). This ap-
praisal was performed by the expert in EUR, which was converted by the Company at the 31.12.2017 NBH closing exchange rate to 
forint.  
 
Values from the DCF and market comparison data derived by the expert 

 

 
 
 
 
Information on properties:  
 
Kecskemét, Kiskőrös utca 30.  
In 2016 the Company undertook to sell its property under 6000 Kecskemét Kiskőrösi utca 30, the right holder has paid the fee for 
the sale obligation. The sale obligation for the property’s transfer without litigation and claims is 2,225,000 EUR. The right holder 
may exercise the right by 31 October 2019. The Company took as the property’s fair value the lower of the property’s value estimat-
ed by the expert and the option price entered into by the Company, which is 2.250.000 EUR, converted into forint in 2017: 697,815 
thousand HUF, in 2016: 699,795 thousand HUF. The change in the HUF value was caused by the exchange rate change. 
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1062 Budapest, Andrássy út 105.  
The property was transferred to the Company as non-financial contribution provided to the Company as part of the December 2017 
capital raise. This capital raise is presented in detail in Section Hiba! A hivatkozási forrás nem található..  
 
 
Sensitivity test: changes in yield levels for the property’s portfolio value.  
The DCF model variables used, and values resulted are presented in the previous table.  Sensitivity test was performed to make a 
DCF sensitivity analysis. The aggregation of the DCF model variables ends in the exit yield, and the other sensitive element of the 
model is the annual rent fee. From the matrix of these two variables shift we present the effect of a 5% negative and 5% positive 
shift in these model variables to the fair value per property.  
 
Input data used for the appraisal and sensitivity tests 
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7.3.2.4 Fair value hierarchy 
 

 
 

7.3.2.5 Appeninn Nyrt. share circulation data  
 
The company applied a Monte Carlo simulation for the share purchase obligation. The value affecting the outcome of the simulation 
is the 12 month volatility of the Company’s share price which was between -21,1- 200% and for a longer outlook it exceeded 200%.  
 

 
 

7.3.3 Financial guarantees 
 
The valuation of financial guarantees takes place by fair valuation. Fair valuation is the sum of discounted values to the time of the 
product of PD (probability of default) X LGD (loss given default) X EAD (exposure of default). For uncalled lending / guarantee 
commitments, in the course of estimating the expected lending losses the possible lender needs to estimate the part of its lending 
commitments that will be called by the other party, then to calculate the (weighted) present value of cash flow1 differences  in the 
event of the eventual call of the above estimated part. 
 
It quantified the guarantee exposures (EAD). The Company prepared a cash-flow estimate for the business of the controlled com-
pany, from which the negative cash-flow balance suggested the LGD in the event of default. Primary obligors of guarantees, when 
they are fully controlled, were valuate on the basis of the cash-flow plan from the business plan and established whether a default 
exists. It is a Company management decision to take the PD into account at zero probability if, subject to foreseeable business 
conditions, if the positive cash-flow is valid for the entire term of commitments. 
 
The initial recognition date is the day when the (irrevocable) commitment was concluded. 
The estimate period of expected lending losses is the maximum contract period, during which the contractual obligation exists.  
 
Upon the valuation of expected lending losses the cash flow difference is the difference between the cash flows expected to pay 
(indemnification) and the expected cash flow in the context of the transaction (from anybody). Contractual cash flows and the as-
sumed actual cash-flows to be disbursed in the future. 
The discount rate of the expected lending losses is the actual rate reflecting the risk of cash flows.  
The examination of the significant increase in the credit risk is ongoing, subject to taking into account the debtor’s default.  
 
The Company assessed to what companies controlled by the Company or other companies it extended guarantees.  Cases for the 
Company assessment are presented in Section 8.23.4.  
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8 Additional information to the current year P/L 
This Section described the P/L and performance of Appeninn Nyrt in the financial years ending on 31 December 2017 and 31 De-
cember 2016. Disclosures follow the structure of the income statement and provide information on segment data, on operational 
revenues, operational expenditure and financial profit and loss. Statements on taxation and share based remuneration related 
financial situation are also described here. 
 
 

8.1 Sales revenue, segment information 
 
The Company is engaged in the letting and operation of owned property, asset management and company management.  
  
The properties used for property letting and operation activities are located in Hungary, in Kecskemét and Budapest.  

- We established no separate segments on territorial basis. In the 2017 business year the Company obtained revenue only 
from the property located in Kecskemét.  In November 2016 the Company has signed a lease contract with Wing Zrt. for 
the property, under which Wing Ingatlanfejlesztő és Beruházó Zrt. leases and area of 66,024 m2: office, storage and land 
for one year, which is expired and not extended. Upon the publication of this report the property is vacant. 

- The Company has been taking the revenues of the property acquired in December 2017 by way of non-financial contribu-
tion starting from the year 2018.  

 
The Company performs management activity exclusively for associates, which are within the same segment, these subsidiaries are 
active in property letting.  

- provision of real-estate property maintenance and operating services that are necessary for the lease-out activities of the 
subsidiaries  

- active portfolio management 
- centralized management and administration, as well as legal representation 
- centralized arrangement of purchasing transactions, finding the most favourable offers 
- organization and implementation of property renovation, conversion works, professional supervision 
- receivables management 
- provision and operation of the central dispatcher/fault reporting line  
- organization of the security guarding and reception services of the properties  
- advertising properties/offices to let, recruitment of tenants, maintaining contacts with the tenants 
- presentation of the subsidiaries and their properties at the appeninn.hu website 
- presentation of the subsidiaries and their properties at the appeninn.hu website 

 
Data for both activities of the Company are presented separately in the statement.  
 
The Company’s assets are located in the territory of Hungary.  
 
Condition for sales revenue recognition presented in the current period 
Sales revenue is recognised if it is likely that an economic advantage is realised by the Company in the context of that transaction, 
and its amount is adequately measurable. The amount of the sales revenue is recognised exclusive of sales taxes and discounts 
when goods are transferred and services provided, and risks and benefits are transferred. 
 
Presentation of expenditure recognised in the period 
Where it is not regulated by a separate standard, operational costs are recognised at a certain point in time or during a certain 
period. If a specific transaction belongs to the scope of a specific IFRS, then its accounting recognition takes place in accordance 
with that standard 
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Clause 8.1 Continued 
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8.2 Other income and other expenses 
 
Both other income and sales revenues are accounted for on the basis of the same accounting policy. 

 
(1) The Company charged late payment penalty interest on transactions conducted with a delay.  
(2) In 2017, the Company received liquidated damages and cancellation penalties owing to contract cancellation. 
(3) In 2016, the Company sold a call option for the purchase of the real property in Kecskemét to a tenant for EUR 2.5 million, with 
the terminal date of 31 October 2019; the option fee was paid by the beneficiary.  
(4) In 2016, the Company granted a revenue guarantee for the 2015 revenues of the activities sold in a sales agreement dated 2014 
for the 100% business share of Kranservice Ltd. In 2016, the buyer company announced its guarantee claim, which was acknowl-
edged by the seller, and financially settled in 2016. 
 

8.3 Investments in subsidiaries 
 
The policies used to evaluate subsidiaries and long-term participations are presented in point7.2.2. Appeninn Nyrt. holds direct 
ownership shares in the following companies:  

 
 
 
the carrying amount of the ownership shares is compared against the equity of the subsidiaries. The book value of the investments 
includes accounting for and reversal of impairment loss. The carrying amount of investments does not exceed the equity of invest-
ments. 
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The following economic events occurred in connection with ownership shares: 
Appeninn Property Vagyonkezelő Zrt.  
 The Company wrote off the investment to zero due to reduction in the equity of the subsidiary.  
 
Appeninn – Bp1047 Zrt.  
 The purchase price of the Company remained unchanged:  
 
Appeninn E-Office Zrt. and W-GO 2000 Zrt.  
 W-GO 2000 Zrt.'s ownership share in Appeninn Nyrt. and impairment loss on the ownership share were derecognised 
when the investment was sold. On 22 April 2016, Appeninn Nyrt. sold its 60% ownership share in W-GO 2000 Zrt. for 
HUF 425,459.538 to Appeninn E-Office Zrt., which consolidated the subsidiary on 30 September 2016. After the consolidation, 
based on the exchange of shares, LEHN Consulting Ag.'s minority ownership in Appeninn E-Office Zrt. changed to 1/73.  
 Pursuant to its decision taken on 31.12.2016., Appeninn Nyrt. raised Appeninn E-Office Zrt.'s capital by 
HUF 2,757,044.447 through a capital increase by share premium. Appeninn Nyrt. carried out the capital increase by transferring its 
claims as at 31.12.2016 from Appeninn E-Office Zrt. (in-kind contribution).  
 Pursuant to decision taken on 31.12.2016., capital increase took place through the issue of 10 ordinary shares and was 
completed when the capital increase was registered by the company court on 16.02.2017.  Subsequent to the capital increase, 
Appeninn E-Office Zrt. held 83 ordinary shares, each with a nominal value of HUF 10 million.  LEHN Consulting Ag. did not take part 
in the capital increase completed on 16.02.2017, therefore, after the completion of the capital increase, its share was 1/83 in 2017. 
 On 23.08.2017, Appeninn Nyrt. purchased one share with a face value of HUF 10 thousand from Appeninn E-Office Zrt. 
The price of the share was mutually set by the parties at HUF 366,955,516,000. The price was settled through a mutual off-set 
involving the parties' overdue and still outstanding receivables and liabilities from 2015. 
 
VÁR- Logisztika Zrt.  
 In 2017, the Company sold its 100% share in the subsidiary.  
 
Bertex Kft.  
 The purchase price of the Company remained unchanged:  
 
Curlington Kft.  
 The purchase price of the Company remained unchanged:  
 
Szent László Téri Szolgáltató Ház Kft.  
 The Company wrote off the investment by HUF 50 million due to reduction in the equity of the subsidiary. 
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8.3.1 Indirect ownership shares 

 
 
 

8.3.2 Valuation of the Appeninn Credit Zrt. investment, an asset held for trading 
 
The Appeninn Nyrt. has recorded its 100% share in Appeninn Credit Zrt. as a short-term investment.  

 
 
The purchase price of the share, which 
was HUF 144 million in 2016, was paid 
by means of own shares.  
 
The investment was evaluated in com-
parison with the Company's equity. The 
value of the investment was HUF 155 
million on 31.12.2016 and HUF 76 
million on 31.12.2017.  
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8.3.3 Sale and evaluation of the investments (subsidiaries) as reflected in the Company's per-
formance 

 

 
 
Pontott Kft.  
 The Company sold the capital contribution of Pontott Kft. received as in-kind contribution to the capital increase on 
20 May 2016. The Company earned HUF 23.3 million on the sale. 
 
Appeninn Investment Zrt.  
 The Company sold the capital contribution of Appeninn Investment Zrt. received as in-kind contribution to the capital 
increase on 20 May 2016. The Company earned HUF 5.2 million on the sale. 
 
VÁR – Logisztika Zrt.  
 In order to clean its portfolio, the Company sold its 100% share in Appeninn Logisztika Zrt. (today: VÁR- Logisztika Zrt.). 
The Company generated HUF 41 million in losses on the sale.  

 
Appeninn Credit Zrt.  
 The Company has recorded Appeninn Credit Zrt. as an investment held for trading and is actively engaged in activities 
aimed at its sale. Appeninn Credit Zrt. carried out portfolio cleaning and its losses on the closing of the transactions reduced its 
capital; therefore, in 2017, impairment loss in the amount of HUF 67.7 million had to be recognised due to changes in the value 
active transactions.  
 
Appeninn Property Vagyonkezelő Zrt.  
 2017: APPENINNN Property Vagyonkezelő Zrt. (formerly: Appeninn Angel Zrt.) is an investment company. HUF 3.5 mil-
lion had to be written off as a result of its investments and tax liability.  
 2016: The 2016 performance of APPENINNN Property Vagyonkezelő Zrt. (formerly: Appeninn Angel Zrt.) affected the 
value of the investment. The impact was a HUF 1.5 million write-off.  
 
Szent László Téri Szolgáltató Ház Kft. 
 2017: Due to losses on the lease-out of Szent László Téri Szolgáltató Ház Kft. and the performance of its subsidiaries led 
to a HUF 50 million change in value.  
 2016: The profitable operation of Szent László Téri Szolgáltató Ház Kft. in 2016 led to the reversal of impairment loss in 
2016. The reversal of impairment loss (HUF 45 million) was presented because due to the conversion to IFRS on 01 01 2017, the 
balance of the investments under the previous accounting principles is considered to be their purchase price.  
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8.4 Income generating investment properties  
 
The Company evaluates and presents the income generating investment properties in accordance with point 7.2.16.  
The input data used for valuation are presented in point 7.3.2.3 on Accounting Estimates.  
 

8.4.1 Fair value valuation of income generating investment properties 
 
 
 
 
The EUR-denominated value of the real property 
in Kiskőrös Street, Kecskemét is identical to that in 
2016. The 1.9 million change is attributable to 
exchange rate fluctuations.  
 
 
The value of the real property at Budapest, 105 
Andrássy út did not cover a portion of the 4% duty 
(HUF 34 million) therefore, a fair value valuation 
difference in the amount of HUF 15.6 million.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.5 Dividends received 
 
The Company received dividends in the amount of HUF 195,000,000 from Appeninn E-Office Zrt. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

8.6 Depreciation, machinery and equipment 
 
The policies used to evaluate machinery are presented in point7.2.14. 
 
Machinery and equipment are stated at purchase 
price less accumulated depreciation and impair-
ment loss. Purchase price comprises the pur-
chase price of the asset, import duties, non-
refundable taxes and costs linked directly to the 
installation of the asset, e.g. borrowing costs. The 
estimated costs of mining field abandonment and 
restoration are capitalised when the asset is 
recorded or, if a decision on mining field aban-
donment is taken later, at the date of the deci-
sion. Book value of tangible assets is modified by 
changes in costs estimates. Costs incurred after 
the installation, e.g. maintenance and repairs 
(less periodic maintenance) are recorded through 
profit/loss upon incurrence, except periodic 
maintenance costs, which are capitalised as 
separate components.  
 
Purchases and manufacture in progress are 
measured at purchase cost and stated as invest-
ments. Impairment loss on investments is only 
recognised after the installation of the asset. 
 



 Appeninn Nyrt. Parent Company Non-consolidated page 29 
Financial statements for year 2017   Unless otherwise indicated, all figures are in HUF 

 

 

The Company's tangible assets are office devices (computers, communication devices and office equipment).  
The Company accounts for depreciation as follows:  

- Office equipment 7 years 
- IT equipment 3 years 
- Assets with an individual purchase price of below HUF 100,000 are depreciated in full and charged to profit/loss. 

The Company records no residual value on its assets given the nature of its tangible assets (standard furniture, servers and desk-
tops) and the low amount involved.   
 
 

8.7 Income from and expenses on financial operations 
 

 
 

8.8 Interest income and interest expense 
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8.9 Taxation 
 
 
The Company's tax liabilities include business tax, income tax and the impact of deferred taxes calculated on the basis of corporate 
tax differences on profit/loss.  
 
 

8.9.1 Income tax in the balance sheet  
 
The Company's major tax liabilities 
 
Income tax is stated through income except when it 
relates to an book entry recorded as other comprehen-
sive income or directly through equity because in that 
case related taxes must be presented as other com-
prehensive income or directly through equity.  
 
 
 
 
 
Current tax liability is determined on the basis of the 
profit generated in the reporting year. The profit subject 
to tax liability differs from profit/loss before taxation 
because of the temporary differences, profit/loss not 
included in the tax base and other book entries that are 
stated as profit subject to tax liability in respect of other 
years. If there is provisioning, then provisions are 
generated in accordance with the liability method and 
charged to deferred taxes. (Provisions in 2017: HUF 0)  
 
 
 
 
 
Deferred taxes  
 Deferred taxes are the result of a temporal 
difference between the recognition of a book entry in the 
annual accounts and in accordance with the tax act. De-
ferred tax assets are determined at the tax rates that apply 
or promulgated before the balance sheet data (if promulga-
tion is deemed equivalent to entry into force) or at the tax 
rates that apply to taxable income in the years when the 
temporal difference is expected to be recovered. Deferred 
tax assets are presented when assets are likely to be 
realised in the near future. At each balance sheet date 
Appeninn Nyrt. presents the unrecognised deferred tax 
assets and the book value of tax assets when presenting 
its financial situation.  
 
 Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 
can be offset against each other if the company is entitled 
to offset its actual tax assets and tax liabilities against each 

other in respect of the same tax authority, and Appeninn 
Nyrt. intends to net these assets and liabilities. 
 
Presentation of industry-specific building tax  
 
 Building tax is imposed by local authorities and 
varies from one local authority to the next. Its rate is 
HUF 500-2,000 per m². The Company records building tax 
as operating cost as the purpose of the buildings is leasing 
and lease fees serve as cover for the tax.  
 
Local business tax 
 Local business tax is capped at 2%. In Kecske-
mét and Budapest, it is 1.6% and 2% respectively. The 
Company pays local business tax in the jurisdiction of both 
authorities (based on a split). The tax is stated as tax 
charged to income. Local business tax can be recognised 
as cost and charged to corporate tax.  
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8.9.2 Negative tax base 
 
Appeninn Nyrt. had deferred tax assets due to its negative tax base before 2014 and can use them until 2025 under the corpo-
rate tax act. Deferred tax assets are not recognised as their recovery is uncertain.  

 
 
 
 
 

8.9.3 Deferred tax assets in the balance sheet  
 
The balance of the deferred taxes as at 31 December 2017, 2016 and 2015 in the presentation of the financial situation was as 
follows: 

 
 
With effect from 1 January 2017, the corporate tax rate was lowered to 9%, which was used to calculate deferred taxes.  
 
 

8.9.4 Property tax in the balance sheet  
 

 
Due to the possibility of book 
transfer by tax type, tax assets 
and payable tax are presented 
together.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.10 Earnings per share (EPS) 
 

 
 
 

8.11 Other long-term liabilities 
 
Debt in the amount of HUF 500 million owed by LEHN Consulting Ag. was incurred in 2015. It was the purchase price of W-GO 
2000 Zrt.'s 40% ownership share. The buyer paid HUF 60 million in 2015. In 2015 and 2016, the debt was presented at a dis-
counted value. In 2016, the amount of the interest presented was HUF 38,943 million. The amount of the long-term debt was 
HUF 304,376 million. Current liabilities and long-term 
receivables were offset against each other. As at 
31 12 2016, the balance of the current liabilities and 
long-term receivables was HUF 49,327 million. Liabil-
ities excluded HUF 47,354 million was stated as 
short-term liabilities. Presented in Point 8.15.  
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In 2017, the purchase price was paid in full. Subsequently, interest was also derecognised.  
 
 
 
 

8.12 Accounts receivable 
 
 
There were no trade debtors other than related 
parties in 2017.  
In 2016, there was a sizeable account receiva-
ble due to a lease fee that the Company rec-
ognised in HUF. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.13 Claims from the sale of own shares 
 
 
 
Of the claims related shares and securities, 
HUF 438 million was claims from the sale of 
own shares. In 2017, the transaction was 
settled.   
 
 
Claims in the amount of HUF 200 million were settled through a bill of exchange due on 17 May 2017. In 2017, the bill of ex-
change was settled by the drawee.  
 
 
 
 

8.14 Other short term receivables 
 
 
 
(1) The short-term loan was repaid in 
2017.  
 
(2) The claim was fully impaired.  
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8.15 Short-term receivables from related parties 
 
Claims from related companies included invoiced holding fees, interest and principal debt, dividends from subsidiaries and other 
claims. 

 
 
In 2017, there was a major decrease in short-term receivables within the group. As at 31 12 2017, the purchase price of the 
claims on the books was HUF 1,365,571,000 (31 12 2016:HUF 3,364,519,000). 
 
(1) Of the claims from Appeninn E-Office Zrt., Appeninn Nyrt. provided HUF 2,757,044,000 to Appeninn E-Office Zrt. in the form 
of a capital increase by share premium on the basis of the 31 12 2016 decision of the general meeting. The capital increase 
amounted to HUF 100 million, as a result of which the subscribed capital of Appeninn E-Office Zrt. rose to HUF 830 million, and 
the share premium was HUF 2 657 044. The capital increase was registered by the company court on 16 02 2017. Appeninn 
Nyrt. settled the debt through registration, the parent company did not charge interest on the items included in capitalisation 
from 1 January 2017. 
 
(2) The Company acquired its liabilities to the former owners of the of the purchased subsidiaries at a price below the book 
value of the liabilities. The values presented are the difference between the purchase price of the receivables and the value of 
the liabilities recorded by the subsidiary and booked by the Company as a discount.  
 
(3) Appeninn Nyrt. purchased the debts owed by Várna 12 Holding Zrt., a subsidiary purchased in 2017 to its former owners as 
part of the transaction. Discount on receivables was HUF 87.7 million.  
(4) Receivables from the related parties stem from the sale of the own share to the subsidiary. The data of the transactions are 
presented in point 8.24. 
 
(5) For the 2015 purchase price regarding LEHN Consulting Ag, see Point 8.11.  
 

8.16 Cash and cash equivalents 
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8.17 Bond debts 
 
The Company presents its receivables and liabilities arising from bonds in this section, which guarantees the transparency of 
both receivables and liabilities. The Company classifies the bonds that it issues in accordance with Point 7.2.19.  
 
 

8.17.1 The Company's bond debts and claims were as follows as at record dates:  
 

 
 

 
 

8.17.2 Interest on bonds in the Company's income statement 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

8.17.3 The bonds issued by the Company and presented in the balance sheet 
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in 2016 and 2017:  
As at the end of the year, the Company held bonds both issued and repurchased (the same series). The principal of and the 
interest on the bonds issued and repurchased were offset against each other as receivables and liabilities.  
 
In 2017:  
The Company fulfilled its obligation to a third party in respect of principal debt and the related interest on 26 February 2017. 
 
As at 31 12 2017, the Company's bond debt amounted to HUF 62 million. The number of the outstanding bonds is 20. The 
number of the redeemed bonds is 130. The Company did not present any interest on the redeemed bonds. The Company is not 
planning to sell the redeemed bonds to any third party. (There was no change in the redeemed bonds. As at 31 12 2016 the 
Company still held the redeemed bonds.) 
 

8.18 Current liabilities to related parties 
 

 
 

8.19 Other short term liabilities  
 

 
(1) The Company's general meeting de-
cided on the disbursement of dividends on 
28 04 2017.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.20 Trade accounts payables 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.21 Invoiced, accrued and deferred income from leasing 
 
 
In 2016, the Company invoiced the lease fee of 
the real property in Kecskemét due on the entire 
term of the lease agreement, therefore, it de-
ferred the income for 2017 on 31 12 2016 as the 
record date.  
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8.22      Equity 
 

8.22.1 Decisions on subscribed capital and changes in equity 
 
The shares of Appeninn Asset Management Holding Plc were introduced for public trading to the Budapest Stock Exchange on 
2 July 2010. Chapter 3 of the Hungarian Civil Code stipulates public limited companies hold HUF 20,000,000 as the minimum 
amount of capital. The Company fulfilled the minimum capital requirement. As at 31 12 2017, the Company's registered capital 
was HUF 4,089,254,500 (2016: HUF 3,980,000,000) comprising 40,892,545 (2015: 39,800,000) shares each with a face value 
of HUF 100.  
 
 
2017 capital increase 
Based on the General Meeting of Shareholders on 01 December 2017, the Company decided to issue 1,092,545 ordinary 
shares, which were registered by the Budapest Court of Registration on 6 December 2017. Based on decision no 462/2017 of 
the CEO of the Budapest Stock Exchange Zrt., 1,092,545 shares each with a face value of HUF 100 and a dematerialised 
registered ordinary share with an aggregate face value of HUF 109,254,500 were listed on the BSE in connection with the 
Company's share capital increase as per the Company's decision on 1 December 2017. The company participating in the pri-
vate capital increase was Takarék Invest Befektetési és Ingatlankezelő Kft. (1082 Budapest, Üllői út 48., company registration 
number: 01-09-176038; tax number: 24662088-2-42) providing in-kind contribution (hereinafter: the company providing in-kind 
contribution). The amount of the capital increase was HUF 850.000,010,000, which translates into HUF 778 per share as in-kind 
contribution. The amount exceeding the amount of the subscribed capital was HUF 678 per share. The capital increase took the 
form of in-kind contribution. The company providing the in-kind contribution made the in-kind contribution available (office space 
located in a non agricultural area, at District VI 1062 Budapest, Andrássy út 105. registered under topographical lot number 
29637).  
 
2016 capital increase 
Based on the decision taken by the General Meeting of Shareholders on 20 May 2016, the Company decided to issue 
3,300,000 ordinary shares, which were registered by the Budapest Court of Registration on 23 June 2016. 

 
 
 

8.22.2 Data of the shares embodying the Company's capital 

 
 

8.22.3  Owners holding a share in excess of 5% 
 
The ownership structure is presented in point 6.2.  
 
 

8.22.4 Treasury shares 
 
On 31 12 2017, the Company announced that neither it nor its subsidiaries held any shares (31 12 2016: 313,22).  In 2017, the 
Company tapped its own shares as at the end to disburse dividends. It sold all the shares acquired in the reporting year to a 
third party in the same year.  
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8.22.5 Using the 2016 retained earnings to pay dividends 
 
The Company's general meeting decided to use the 2016 retained earnings to pay dividends.  The Company paid HUF 7, i.e. 
seven Hungarian forints on each of its dematerialised share with a face value of HUF 100 (ISIN: HU0000102132). 
 
The Company announced the dividend payment on 8 May 2017. The owners were allowed to request their respective shares of 
dividends in cash or in the form of ordinary shares. The Company set HUF 223 per share as its settlement price. According to 
the information provided in an announcement published on 22 August 2017, the record date of the dividend payment was 
12 06 2017. As at the record date of the dividend payment, the dividend paid on the 37,378,859 in free float amounted to 
HUF 261,652,000.  
 
The number of the own shares made available for the dividend payment was 580,602.  
 

8.22.6 Presentation of own shares: conversion from HAS to IFRS 
 
The Company sold its own shares between 01.01.2016 and 31 12 2016 and purchased new shares. In accordance with the 
transactions, the Company derecognised all of its own shares in the amount of HUF 611 million in 2016 (under HAS they were 
included in the retained earnings). As at 31.12.2016, the Company derecognised all of its own shares in the amount of HUF 65 
million (under HAS they were included in the retained earnings).  
 
The Company converted to IFRS presentation on 1 January 2017. For the principles of presentation, see Point 7.2.21.  
 

8.22.7 Capital reserves 
 
The Company performed a capital increase in the form of a capital increase by share premium on 20 05 2016 and 01 12 2017. 
The subscribers of the shares provided in-kind contribution in respect of the issued capital. The in-kind contributions were made 
available for the Company. The table below shows the average amount per share and the amount per transaction.   

 
 

8.22.8 Retained earnings 
 
(1) In 2017, as a result of the derecog-
nition of the Company's own shares 
due to their disposal, HUF 25 million 
was recognised as a book entry in-
creasing profit/loss (2016: HUF 51.5 
million in losses).  
 
 
 
 
 
(2) The prorated discounted value of the long term receivable from Lehn Consulting Ag., the owner was presented in the accu-
mulated profit reserves, upon initial recognition as a book entry reducing profit. Subsequently, prorated interest was recognised 
again with retroactive force to 2016, and in 2017, the book entry was derecognised in full.  
 
 
(3) The amount of the dividends due to the owners was HUF 261 million, which was charged to the retained earnings and rec-
ognised as a book entry decreasing.  
 
 
 

8.23 Financial guarantees and collateral 
 
The principles of the recognition and presentation of the financial guarantees are shown in point 7.3.3.  
 
 

8.23.1 Obligation to repurchase own shares, guaranteed purchase price of own shares 
 
On 04.08.2016, the Company and its Felhévíz- APPEN Kft. undertook an obligation to repurchase Appeninn's ordinary shares 
at HUF 210 per share as settlement price and if the shares are delisted, at the prevailing settlement price. The obligation cov-
ered 201,684 shares. The maximum number of the shares covered by the obligation in the first 12 months was 8,809 shares per 
month, and from the 13th month onwards 3,334 shares per two months. The obligation is conditional, i.e. it must only be com-
plied with if the prevailing traded price in respect of the maximum amount of shares to be repurchased is below HUF 210 per 
share. The commitment is subject to the payment of consideration, i.e. the purchase price must be paid by the obligor; further-
more, the obligor may transfer the proceeds of the transaction less taxes and costs realised by the obligee to the obligor during 
the term of the commitment to transfer the primary obligor, i.e. Felhévíz – APPEN Kft. The obligee did not require the obligation 
to be fulfilled until 31 12 2017. The maximum number of the shares outstanding as at 31 12 2017, in respect of which there was 
a purchase obligation, was 88,108. The data used for the estimation of the commitment are presented in point 7.3.  
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The BÉT traded price of the Appeninn ordinary 
shares fluctuated between HUF 211 per share 
and HUF 680 per share as closing prices be-
tween August 2016 and January 2018. It closed 
the trading at HUF 719 per share on 29 12 2017.  
 
 
 
Volatility in respect of the shares is distributed in a 1-200% range. Due to significant volatility, based on the call option received 
through Monte Carlo simulation, the market price of the Company's shares exceeds the obligor's purchase price during the 
entire term of the purchase obligation. The data used for the simulation are presented in point 7.3.2.4.  
 
 
The Company generated HUF 0 in respect of purchase obligations for the record dates on 31 12 2016 and 31 12 2017. The 
Company presents the price of the option as an item of profit character realised and pertaining to the past as profit in accord-
ance with the financial settlement with the option holder. No item representing profit was generated in excess of the recognised 
and realised amount of profit, i.e. on a forward-looking basis.  
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8.23.2 Collateral granted to the subsidiary investors 
 
Appeninn E-Office Zrt. as customer entered into contract on 01.12.2017. The object of the contract was for a heating/cooling 
system to be installed in the real properties held by Appeninn E-Office Zrt., i.e. the supply and instalment of the systems. The 
term of contract for the operation of the systems tailored to the needs of the orderer's buildings corresponds the entire technical 
and economic useful life of the systems. The systems will be transferred into the ownership of the orderer and the orderer is 
obliged an exit price if it cancels the contract. Appeninn Nyrt.'s obligation is unlimited obligation without the observance of sen-
iority, i.e. it includes annual fees and exit fees and the transfer or closure of the contract if the real property is sold. 
 
Appeninn E-Office Zrt. undertook to maintain the contract and honour future payment obligations in a breakdown by real proper-
ty. Relying on the information available, the management of the parent company assessed the losses that might arise if the 
guarantee were exercised on 31 12 2017. In light of the subsidiary's payment discipline and cash flow and operating income, the 
management of the parent company did not find losses likely, therefore this liability was stated at zero in the balance sheet. The 
full exposure of the Company was HUF 89 million. The table below shows the due dates and a breakdown by real property of 
the liability. 

 
 
 
 
 

8.23.3 Guarantee to back the liabilities of the sold member company vis-á-vis a credit institu-
tion 

 
Appeninn Nyrt. as owner for VÁR- Logisztika Zrt. (formerly: Appeninn 
Logisztika Zrt.) with effect from 27.06.2103 for Orgovány és Vidéke 
Takarékszövetkezet as guarantor and mortgagor in the contract with 
the credit institution remained a party after the sale of Appeninn 
Logisztika Zrt. On 06.12.2017, entering into an agreement on the 
assumption of liability, the owners of VÁR- Logisztika Zrt. granted 
guarantee in respect of all the liabilities of Appeninn Nyrt. vis-á-vis 
Takarékszövetkezet. The Company's guarantorship expires on 15 
June 2023 or upon the discharge of the liability. The exposure of the 
Company as at the balance sheet date was HUF 91 million.  
 
 
The Company checked the financial capability of the guarantors and as at the record date of these accounts the management of 
the Company assigned zero insolvency likelihood to the liability stemming from guarantorship. Therefore, zero was stated in the 
balance sheet in connection with the guarantorship. 
 
The table shows the temporal distribution of VÁR –Logisztika Zrt. principal repayment obligation.  
 
 

8.23.4 Collateral granted to the credit institutions of the subsidiaries 
 
 
(1) On 19 01 2018 the Company and Magyar 
Takarékszövetkezeti Zrt. entered into a refinanc-
ing agreement to refinance the loans taken out 
by the subsidiaries. As a result of the refinanc-
ing, the collateral regime as at 31 12 2017 is 
terminated, and under new collateral regime the 
primary and sole obligor of the loans is the 
debtor. Appeninn Nyrt.'s guarantorship and the 
pledge on capital contributions as set out in the 
earlier loan agreements will be terminated in 
respect of the shares/core deposits of the in-
vestments of the buyer involved in refinancing. 
The terms and conditions of the refinancing loan 
contract are as follows:  
 
The subsidiaries involved in the refinancing transaction and the planned refinanced 
amounts:  
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Clause 8.23.4. Continued 
Appeninn Nyrt.'s guarantorship in respect of the bank loans of the subsidiaries: 
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8.24 Agreements with related parties 
 

8.24.1 Other transactions with the owners  
 
On 23.08.2017, Appeninn Nyrt. purchased one share with a face value of HUF 10 thousand from Appeninn E-Office Zrt. The 
price of the share was mutually set by the parties at HUF 366,955.516 The price was settled through a mutual off-set involving 
the parties' overdue and still outstanding receivables and liabilities. 
 
The fee charged for the guarantee securing the loan granted by LEHN Consulting Ag. was no longer charged with effect from 
2017 H2. The overdue and still outstanding receivables and liabilities of LEHN Consulting Ag. and the Company were settled 
through a mutual off-set involving the parties.  
 

8.24.2 Loan transactions with the owners 
 
Interest charged on the loans granted by LEHN Consulting Ag. to finance temporary cash flow needs was the NBH base rate + 
1.5%.   
 
KONZUM PE Private Equity Fund granted a short term loan to the Company in November and December 2017 to fund tempo-
rary liquidity shortage. The interest rate charged for the loan was NBH base rate + 2.5%. In 2017, the principal was repaid.  
 

8.24.3 Loan transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries  
 
The Company is of the opinion that the loans provided for related parties can be recovered. It charged interest (NBH base rate + 
1.5%) on the loans granted to related parties. The repayment of the principal debt and the related interest was guaranteed by 
the parties profitable operations.  
 

8.24.4 Service provision transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries 
 
The Company charged fees to the companies under its control for the services provided for them. The basis for the determina-
tion of the fees charged to the subsidiaries was the length of time and costs allocated to the individual companies.  
 

8.24.5 Securities transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries 
 
On 30 01 2017, Appeninn Nyrt. transferred 704,845 Appeninn shares (settlement price: HUF 227 per share) to Appeninn 
Angel Zrt. (today: Appeninn Property Zrt.). The same settlement price was used in the securities transactions between the 
Company and its member company. The share transaction meant purchase of investment by Appeninn Property Zrt. (settlement 
price: HUF 227 per share). Várna 12 Holding Zrt., the acquired company held capital contributions in the form of a real proper-
ty at 1149 Budapest, Várna u. 12-14. The investor raised financing in part by tapping its own resources (shares) and in part by 
borrowing HUF 280 million from OTP Zrt. For further information, see the Company's announcement on 1 February 2017. Ap-
peninn Nyrt. capitalised the receivable in the amount of HUF 160 million on 27 09 2017 in accordance with the owner's decision. 
The capital increase was registered by the company court on 31 12 2017 along with the merger on 31 12 2017 involving Appen-
inn Property Zrt. and Várna 12 Zrt. The capital increase meant increase in the form of subscribed capital in the amount of HUF 1 
million; further increases were allocated to the capital reserves.  Receivables from securities were on the Company's balance 
sheet on 31 12 2017. The receivable is presented in point 8.15.  
 
On 08 03 2017, Appeninn Nyrt. transferred 620,456 Appeninn shares (settlement price: HUF 220 per share) to Szent László 
Téri Szolgáltatóház Kft. The same settlement price was used in the securities transactions between the Company and its 
member company. The share transaction meant purchase of investment by Szent László Téri Szolgáltatóház Kft. (settlement 
price: HUF 220 per share). The purchased company constitutes the 100% ownership share of Sectura Ingatlanbefektető Kft. 
(formerly known as Estate Pest Kft.). The subsidiary of Appeninn Nyrt. purchased the company owing a real property in 1005 
Bánya utca for HUF 136.5 million, which it paid in full by tapping its own shares. For further information, see the Company's 
announcement on 9 March 2017. The HUF 136.5 million receivable was presented in Appeninn Nyrt.'s closing balance as at 
31 12 2017. The receivable is presented in point 8.15. 
 
On 12 07 2017, Appeninn Nyrt., in order to acquire the 74% core deposit of APPENINN Hegyvidék Ingatlankezelő és In-
gatlanforgalmazó (before 14 11 2017: Pontott Termelő és Szolgáltató Kft. ), transferred 206 512 shares (settlement price: 
HUF 215 per share) to Curlington Kft. The same settlement price was used in the securities transactions between the Compa-
ny and its member company. Curlington Kft. made the shares available for the seller of the purchased share in order to settle 
the purchase price; the settlement price applied in the ownership share acquisition transaction was HUF 215 per share. The 
subsidiary of Appeninn Nyrt. purchased the 74% ownership share of the company owing a real property at 1121 Budapest, 
Normafa út 14. for HUF 44.4 million, which it paid in full by tapping its own shares. The HUF 44.4 million receivable was pre-
sented in Appeninn Nyrt.'s closing balance as at 31 12 2017. The receivable is presented in point 8.15. On 14 11 2017, Curling-
ton Kft. purchased APPENINN Hegyvidék Ingatlankezelő és Ingatlanforgalmazó Kft.'s 26% ownership share. For further infor-
mation, see the Company's announcement on 14 November 2017. 
 

8.24.6 Contracts with and remuneration for executive officers 
 
Members of the board of directors (6 persons) received HUF 300,000 per person in 2016 and 2017, and those of the audit 
committee received an additional HUF 100,000 per person. A BoD member providing business and operational management 
advisory services received HUF 1,7 million + VAT in advisory fees in 2017. The Company did not enter into an agreement with 
any one of the executive officers that could generate, through changes in the existing contracts, any binding obligation on the 
Company in the future.  
The executive officers received no emoluments other than 
what is presented here from the Company. 
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9 Financial risk management 
 
The Company has an indirect exposure to financial risks because it has no third party financing in its own right. The Company is 
exposed to market risks through changes in its capital investments, secondarily, i.e. valuation losses. The capital investments 
(i.e. subsidiaries) are exposed to risks arising from changes in market and financial conditions. These changes may influence 
the performance of capital investments and the values of the assets and liabilities. The management of financial risks is central-
ised and is aimed at mitigating and monitoring risks continuously via operating and financing activities. The market risks to 
which the Group is exposed are described below. 
 

9.1 Highest lending risks in a breakdown by expiry  
The contractual (undiscounted) amount as per expiry of the financial assets and liabilities on the basis of payments:  
 

 
 
 

9.2 Presentation of financial instruments in accordance with the presentation principles 

 
 
 

9.3 Rent-related risks 
The management of the Company as the company exercising control establishes consistent, reliable and competitive rents for 
the tenants in respect of both its capital investment and its own real properties. The current amounts of the rents are in line with 
the environment and quality of the properties. With respect to the present global environment and the supply in the office prop-
erty market in Budapest, however, nothing guarantees that current rents and conditions can be sustained in the future. 

9.4 Foreign exchange risks 
As the Company's functional and reporting currency is Hungarian forint (HUF), foreign currency risk is posed by the exchange 
rate of EUR denominated receivables and liabilities (bank loans). 
 
Conversion of book entries denominated in HUF used for the preparation of the report was carried out by the Group at the 
following exchange rates. The Group applied the closing MNB exchange rate for the balance sheet entries and the average 
daily MNB exchange rate for the profit entries.  

 
The transaction currency was EUR, our foreign exchange exposure was performed by quantifying this currency. The Company 
issued bonds in the amount of EUR 200,000. A 5% change in the HUF-EUR exchange rate incurs a HUF 3.1 change in liabili-
ties to the Company.  
 
The FX exposure In the 2017 balance sheet of the Company is based on EUR denominated fail value valuation. Comparable 
data used in appraisals are recorded in EUR, therefore the Company translates its turnover data into EUR in the appraisals. In 
the event that the HUF-EUR exchange rate changes, the translation of income and expenses leads to exchange rate differ-
ences. Secondarily, the HUF valuation of the generated EUR fair value valuation by the balance sheet date. Changes in fair 
values between 2016 and 2017 affecting the real property in Kecskemét were the outcome of FX rate fluctuation. The 0.28% FX 
rate fluctuation led to a HUF 1.9 million change in the real property worth HUF 699 million. The income generating assets of the 
subsidiaries are measured in the basis of the same principle. However, the EUR financing of the subsidiaries (Appeninn – E 
Office Zrt.) dampens the impact on assets and the parent company.  
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9.5 Interest rate risks 
Interest rate risks represent the risk that the future cash flows of certain assets and liabilities fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-
term debt obligations with floating interest rates and bond issues. 
The Company pays fixed interest on the bonds issued by it.  
It is the Company's subsidiaries that are exposed to interest rate risk, which is reflected in the value of the Company's assets. 
The interest rate risk to which the Company's capital investments are exposed is presented in the HUF 341 million interest paid 
(at a consolidated level including the subsidiaries). The average interest rate was 3.19%. A 0.5% rise in interest would impose 
HUF 50 million in interest charges on the member companies of the Company. Interest charges would incur an indirect change 
in values to the Company through a poorer performance of capital investments.  
 

9.6 Credit risk 
Crediting risk is the exposure wherein a partner fails to fulfil its payment obligation connected with any financial asset or cus-
tomer agreement, thereby causing financial loss.  
 
The Group is exposed to lending risks in connection with its leasing activities and financial operations (including bank deposits 
and financial investments). The Company runs lending risks owing to the loans that it has granted to its subsidiaries. The loans 
granted to the subsidiaries are recovered through coordination by the Company, which the Company's Board of Directors per-
sonally inspects. 
 

9.7 Tenant receivables 
Credit risk is managed by requiring tenants to pay deposits or give bank guarantees in advance, depending on the credit quality 
of the tenant assessed at the time of entering into a lease agreement. Outstanding tenants’ receivables are regularly monitored. 
 

9.8 Cash deposits and financial investments 
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial investments is managed in accordance with the Group’s prudent investment 
policy. To mitigate lending risks, the Group keeps its financial reserves in cash or bank deposits at trusted financial institutions. 
 

9.9 Liquidity risk 
The Group has the objective to maintain an equilibrium between the continuity and flexibility of financing when the volumes of 
financial reserves and loans are determined. 
In the management's opinion no difficulties in liquidity can be expected, because the operating income of the Company's subsid-
iaries can amply cover debt services and operating costs. 
The Group fulfils its payment obligations at their due dates, and had no overdue debt as of 31 December 2017 and 2017. 
The table in point 9.1. summarises – in respect of December 31, 2017 and 2016 – the maturity profile of the actual (undiscount-
ed) payment obligations arising from contracts.  
 

9.10 Capital risk management 
 
The management’s objectives when managing 
capital are to safeguard the ability to continue 
as a going concern and to maintain an optimal 
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
Client base of the Company and the tenants of 
the real properties in the Company's investment 
portfolio are diverse and varied, so the financial 
realisation of the income does not depend on 
the liquidity of one or more bigger clients 

 
 
Consistent with others in the industry, the man-
agement monitors capital structure based on the 
debt service cover ratio (DSCR) and the loan-to-
value ratio (LTV).  
 
 
 
DSCR is calculated as cash available for debt 
service (rental revenues less operating and 
other costs) divided by debt service (capital plus 
interest), while LTV is calculated as the ratio 
between the sum of the outstanding balances of 
the loan and the market value of the property.  
 
 
 
 

10 Environmental impacts in light of the Company's activities 
 
The Company does not have any tangible assets directly protecting the environment. Neither hazardous waste nor materials 
harmful to the environment are generated during the Company's activities, therefore, it has no inventories of this kind. We are 
not aware of any obligation related to environmental protection, therefore, no provision of this type was generated and no costs 
of this type were incurred in the reported year. Events after the reporting period 
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No significant event occurred after the balance sheet date. The Company will continue to prepare the purchase of portfolio items 
tailored to its acquisition strategy and their availability as in-kind contribution. The Company prepared the refinancing of its 
loans. Audit of the Company's annual accounts and the auditor's remuneration 
 
The auditor conducting the audit of the Company and the person personally responsible for the audit are elected by the general 
meeting of the Company: The auditor appointed by the Company's general meeting to audit economic data:  
 
MOBILCONSULT Könyvvizsgáló és Gazdasági Tanácsadó Korlátolt Felelősségű Társaság (registered seat: H-1106 Budapest, 
Fehér út 10., company registry number: 01-09-079760, chamber of auditors’ license number: 001168) 
Auditor personally responsible for the audits: Judit Nagy (address: Budapest 1165, Vak Bottyán utca 25., CoHA number: 
007070)  
The engagement of the auditor covers the audit of the Company's annual accounts compiled by the Hungarian statutory regula-
tion and Appeninn Holding Nyrt.'s  consolidated financial statements compiled in accordance with IFRS.  
 
Audit fees:  

 HUF 3,500,000 + VAT was charged for the statutory audit of the Appeninn Nyrt.'s non-consolidated annual accounts pre-
pared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the EU and Act C of 2000 on 
Accounting. 

 The fee charged for the audit of Appeninn Nyrt.'s consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS: 
HUF 1,000,000 + VAT. 

 
The auditors did not provide any other assurance or tax advisory services or services other than auditing for the Company. Use 
of taxed profit 
 
On 26.03.2017, the Board of Directors discussed and agreed with the content of the report and proposed that the general meet-
ing accept it. Based on the annual performance indicators, Appeninn Vagyonkezelő Holding Nyrt. has HUF 673 143 000 in 
freely available retained earnings.  
 

11 Statements 
 
Declaration of liability: 
We the undersigned as persons entitled to sign for and represent the company declare on behalf of Appeninn Vagyonkezelő 
Holding Nyilvánosan Működő Részvénytársaság (Appeninn Nyrt.), the issuer of Appeninn ordinary shares that Appeninn Nyrt. 
undertakes unlimited liability that, to the best of our knowledge, the parent company’s 2017 Annual Accounts published by 
Appeninn Nyrt. have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards and provide a true and 
fair picture of Appeninn Nyrt.’s assets and liabilities, financial situation, profit/loss, performance, situation and development and 
disclose the key risks and uncertainties.  
 
We wish to point out that the fair value of the assets presented in the accounts on the basis of fair value valuation contains 
estimates. The variables in the estimates may differ from current expectations in the future, as a result of which future results 
may differ materially from assumptions for the future. The method of estimation and the variables in the estimates are shown in 
point 7.3.  
 

12 Approval of the annual accounts 
 
At its meeting held on 26 March 2018, Appeninn Vagyonkezelő Holding Nyrt.'s Board of Directors approved the Company's 
2017 consolidated annual accounts prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopt-
ed by the EU. The Board of Directors approved the publication of these consolidated accounts of the Company. However, the 
annual general meeting of the owners entitled to approve them may request modifications before the approval. 
 

13 Publishing and depositing of the accounts 
 
The Company publishes its disclosures and reports at www.appeninnholding.com, www.közzételek.hu, www.bet.hu and uploads 
them to http://e-beszamolo.im.gov.hu/. These accounts contain the accounts compiled for the Audit Committee.  
 
Budapest, 26th March 2018 
 
 
 
 
Zoltán Prutkay, member of the Board of Directors and Gábor Székely, a member of the Audit Committee 

http://www.appeninnholding.com/
http://www.közzételek.hu/
http://www.bet.hu/
http://e-beszamolo.im.gov.hu/
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14 Annexes 
14.1 Annex 1  

Published but not yet effective International Financial Reporting Standards 
 
Issued but not yet effective International Financial Reporting Standards and Amendments At the date of authorisation of these 
financial statements, the following standards and interpretations were in issue but not yet effective. Based on preliminary as-
sessment the Company believes that the adoption of the following standards will not have significant impact on its consolidated 
results and financial position:  
 

• IFRS 2 Share-based Payment - Amendments to clarify the classification and measurement of share-based payment 

transactions (effective for business year beginning on or after 1 January 2018, this amendment has not been ap-

proved by the EU yet. 

• IFRS 4 Insurance contracts - Amendments regarding the interaction of IFRS 4 and IFRS 9 (effective for annual peri-

ods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, this standard has not been approved by EU yet)  

• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014–2016 Cycle (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Janu-

ary 2018) 

The Company is currently considering the implications of the following standard which is expected to have an impact on the 
Company’s consolidated results and financial position: 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement IFRS 9 covers the classification, measurement and de-

recognition of financial instruments, new impairment methodology and a new hedge accounting model. IFRS 9 is in-

tended to replace IAS 39 Financial instruments: Classification and valuation standard and all earlier versions of IFRS 

9. Effective for business years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to reve-

nue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the con-

sideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. IFRS 

15 will replace IAS 18 Revenue and IAS 11 Construction contracts. Effective for business years beginning on or after 

1 January 2018.  

• IFRS 16 Leases Effective for business years beginning on or after 1 January 2019.  

• • IAS 40 Amendments to Investment Property (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2018, this 

amendment has not been approved by EU yet) 

• IAS 28 Amendments to Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective for annual periods beginning on or af-

ter 01 January 2019) 

• IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (effective for annual periods beginning on or af-

ter 01 January 2018, this amendment has not been approved by EU yet) 

• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 

2019, this amendment has not been approved by EU yet) 

• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014–2016 Cycle (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Janu-

ary 2018, not approved by EU yet) 
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14.2 Annex 2 - Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies 
 
In 2016 and 2017, the Company held direct control over the following business undertakings registered in Hungary:  
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In 2016 and -2017, the Company held indirect control over the following business undertakings registered in Hungary:   
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14.3 Annex 3 - disclosures under the Hungarian Accounting Act 
 

14.3.1 Person in charge of managing the tasks included in book-keeping services and the 
preparation of the accounts in accordance with IFRS 

 
 
The company engaged to provide book-keeping services in respect of the financial year ending on 31 December 2017 was KAT 
Zrt. Person appointed by KAT Zrt. to manage the tasks included in the book-keeping services: Zoltán Szilasi Registration No.: 
197528 specialist area Book-keeping services provided included the general ledger and sub-ledger book entries by the con-
tracted accounting firm, the management of the records in accordance with the Hungarian accounting rules of procedure, the 
accounts receivable recorded by the Company, and the statements prepared on the basis of the contracts concluded. The 
balance sheet and the income statement were prepared in accordance with both the Hungarian Accounting Act and IFRS. The 
income statement and the balance sheet, both complied in accordance with the Hungarian accounting standards, have 
been audited to enable the Company to present any change or decrease in the corporate tax base to the Hungarian tax 
authority in accordance with the accounting principles used earlier even after the conversion to IFRS with effect from 1 
January 2017. In compliance with the provision of the Corporate Tax Act, to be able to cite tax base difference.  
 
In order to have the accounts prepared in accordance with the Accounting Act aligned with IFRS, the Company engaged an 
IFRS-registered accounting expert on 31 December 2017. The chartered accountant personally responsible for the compilation 
of the accounts in accordance with IFRS is Anita Lénárt (registration number is: 186427, IFRS specialist). The engagement of 
the accounting expert is limited to identify the differences between the IFRS and HAS and to the compilation of stand-alone 
accounts in Hungarian based on the effective IFRS standards accepted by the EU. The engagement of the accounting expert 
responsible for the preparation of accounts in accordance with IFRS does not cover the formulation of regimes and methods in 
connection with accounting policies, book-keeping and reporting, establishing and rules and regulations concerning the system 
of accounts, including ledger accounts and records and annual accounts, the analysis of data shown in the annual account and 
in bookkeeping records, and providing documentary evidence of the legality, reliability and conformity of the data in the individu-
al accounts. 
 

14.3.2 Equity equivalence table pursuant to Act C of 2000 on Accounting 
 
The basis of the preparation of the equivalence table for equity also includes: 
 
Pursuant to Section 114/B, interim financial statements shall contain the calculation of the difference between equity under the 
Hungarian accounting standards and equity under the above principles. 
(1) The economic operator preparing annual accounts in accordance with IFRS shall compile an equity conversion table pertain-
ing to the record date of the accounts and present such table as part of the Notes to the accounts. 
(2) For the purposes of other statutory regulations, unless expressly otherwise stipulated by the law, equity and certain compo-
nents thereof shall mean the items in the equivalence table. 
(3) The economic actor shall prepare the equity equivalence table even if, under the applicable law, it shall prepare specific 
accounts (including the interim balance sheet). 
(4) The equity equivalence table shall contain the opening and closing data of the individual components of the equity under 
IFRS and, based on that, the opening and closing data of the following equity components.  
 
The calculation of the difference between the equity under the principles applied during the compilation and the one under the 
Hungarian accounting act contains the 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017 balances of the following components of 
equity: 

 Equity 

 Share capital 

 Capital reserves 

 Retained earnings 

 Valuation reserves 

 Profit/Loss after taxation 

 Blocked reserves  
 
The equivalence table also includes:  
 

 the calculation of the difference between the capital registered by the company court and the registered capital deter-
mined in accordance with the above principles; 

 the retained earnings also containing the taxed profit of the last financial year in respect of which annual accounts 
have been adopted available for dividends. 

 
Act C of 2000 on Accounting a table presenting the components of equity as specified in Section 114/B, which must be present-
ed in the Notes under IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.   
 
 
an equity equivalence table (presenting changes) in respect of the periods between 01 01 2016 and 31 12 2016 and 01 01 2017 
and 31 12 2017 for the equivalence items of the economic actors applying IFRS:  
 
 

https://net.jogtar.hu/szamv-tv
https://net.jogtar.hu/szamv-tv
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14.3.3 Calculation of the 2016 corporate tax in accordance with the Hungarian accounting 
standards for the preparation of annual accounts 

The table below shows the calculation of the difference between the tax liability calculated on the basis of the accounting profit 
and the actual tax liability. 

 
 

14.3.4 Supplementary information on the reporting year's tax charges  
 
 
Any difference in the capital (i.e. difference between the value under IFRS and the one under the Hungarian Accounting Act) 
due to conversion to IFRS is liable to tax under the Corporate Tax Act and the industry tax act.  
 
In the case of Appeninn Nyrt., the above difference is attributable to deductible differences. However, regarding its assets (tan-
gible assets and intangible assets), Appeninn Nyrt. decided to include the balance under the previous accounting principle, 
which is practically the same as the one under the CTA, for the purpose of the conversion.  
 
When converting to IFRS, the Company includes the 
difference on the real properties in the corporate tax in 
accordance with its option permitted in Section 18/C (4a) 
of Act LXXXI on Corporate Tax and Dividend Tax.  
 
The availability of the option enables the tax payer 
compiling its annual accounts and accounting 
closures under IFRS to determine its tax base in 
the tax year of the conversion and in the subse-
quent tax years in respect of all the tangible and 
intangible assets on its books as at the day pre-
ceding the first day of the tax year of the conver-
sion including, if such is selected, the assets that, 
under IFRS, the taxpayer has to have on its books 
on the day preceding the first day of the tax year of 
the conversion, as if it had not converted to IFRS. 
The tax payer shall indicate this option rule in its 
corporate tax return for 2017. The option also 

obliges the tax payer to provide a record of the assets 
affected by the option. Presentation of the purchase price 
as at 31 12 2016 of the assets affected by the option and 
their accelerated depreciation under the CTA: 
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14.3.5 Calculation of the 2017 business tax 
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14.3.6 Analysis of the 2017 tax charges in accordance with the corporate tax act 
 
 
The table below shows the calculation of the difference between the tax liability calculated on the basis of the accounting profit 
and the actual tax liability. 
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